APPENDIX B REQUIRED DOCUMENTS

MINUTES BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING AMERICAN CHARTER SCHOOLS FOUNDATION

March 15, 2017

A regular meeting of the Board of Directors (the "Board") of the American Charter Schools Foundation, a Michigan corporation registered to do business in Arizona (the "Foundation"), was held at 7878 N. 16th Street, Suite 150, Phoenix, Arizona.

Attendance and Quorum

The following director was present in person: Ted Frederick.

The following directors participated by means of teleconference whereby all persons participating in the meeting were able to hear one another: Linda Comer, John Matthews and Matthew Proctor. The following director was not present: Gina Conflitti.

The following guests were present: Mary Berg, Gary Bae and Scott Shelley.

Ms. Comer called the meeting to order at approximately 1:08 p.m. Arizona time and noted that a quorum was present. Ted Frederick served as Secretary of the meeting for the purpose of recording the minutes.

Minutes

Minutes from the February 15, 2017 Board meeting was presented. A motion to approve the minutes was made by Mr. Frederick and duly seconded by Dr. Proctor. A second motion was made by Mr. Matthews and duly seconded by Dr. Proctor to approve the minutes from the Executive Session on February 15, 2017. Both motions passed.

Call to the Public

A call was made to the public to discuss items on the agenda. No one from the public was in attendance.

President's Report

Mr. Frederick introduced Mr. Dave Miller who is the new school leader at Desert Hills High School. He explained his background with Leona and his plans to improve enrollment and curriculum at the school. The Board was updated on the efforts to refinance our bonds. Mr. Frederick indicated that he had asked the underwriters to restart the process to attract investors. The fighting incident at South Ridge High School and Board's decision was discussed in detail. The possibility of a face-to-face meeting in April was proposed and Mr. Frederick indicated he would attempt to set up such a meeting.

Management Company Report

Ms. Berg reported that AZ Merit testing was going on at this time. She further indicated that the Arizona Department of Ed and the Charter Board were still working on a grading system for Arizona schools. Mr. Shelley reported on the current ADM for schools and noted that ACSF schools have reached their hundredth day funded number and that funding is still being decided as the state level.

ACSF Minutes March 15, 2017 Page 2

Old Business

None

New Business

A motion was made by Ms. Comer and duly seconded by Mr. Matthews that the Board approve the replicating of South Ridge High School into two additional charters for schools in Arizona. The motioned passed.

A motion was made by Dr. Proctor and duly seconded by Mr. Matthews to reelect Dr. Conflitti to the board for two additional years. The motion passed.

A motion was made by Ms. Comer and duly seconded by Dr. Proctor tor reelect Mr. Frederick to the board for two years along with being President of the Foundation. The motion passed.

Board Comments

None

Adjournment

There being no further business to discuss, an adjournment motion was made by Mr. Matthews and duly seconded by Ms. Comer. The meeting was adjourned at 2:20 pm.

The next meeting of the Board is scheduled for April 12, 2017, at 1:00 p.m. at 7878 N. 16th Street, Suite 150, Phoenix, Arizona.

Director



Mission

The mission of the American Charter Schools Foundation is to promote the charter school movement in the United States with the goal of improving the public school system by creating a more competitive environment, providing parents and students with freedom of choice, and striving for higher academic standards. To assist in the accomplishment of this goal, the Foundation will do any or all of the following:

- Apply for charter school applications
- Serve as a governing body for charter schools
- Provide startup funding and capital investment
- Acquire property for school sites and facilities
- Operate as an educational management company
- Provide supplemental educational services

BYLAWS

AMERICAN CHARTER SCHOOLS FOUNDATION



As Amended September 14, 2011

AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS OF AMERICAN CHARTER SCHOOLS FOUNDATION

ARTICLE I-NAME

The name of the corporation shall be AMERICAN CHARTER SCHOOLS FOUNDATION. The corporation shall have the right to register, copyright, or trademark the name in the State of Michigan.

ARTICLE II-OFFICES

The principal office of the Corporation shall be located in the City of Phoenix, Maricopa County, Arizona. The Corporation may also maintain offices at such other places within or outside the United States as the Corporate Board may, from time to time, determine.

ARTICLE III-NOT FOR PROFIT CORPORATION

The corporation is established as a not-for-profit corporation exclusively for charitable, educational and scientific purposes, including, for such purposes, the making of distributions to organizations that qualify as exempt organizations under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue code or the corresponding section of any future federal tax code and also including the ownership and operation of charter schools, either individually or by use of a subsidiary, within or outside of the State of Michigan. The Corporation shall not directly or indirectly perform any act or transact any business that will jeopardize its status as a public school in the State of Arizona or any other state in which Corporation is qualified to conduct business and/or operates a public school or to jeopardize any tax-exempt status of the Corporation under the not-for-profit corporation laws of the State of Michigan and any Internal Revenue laws, including the tax-exempt status of a corporation under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and its regulations as any of those laws and regulations may exist or may hereafter be amended. No part of the assets or net earnings of the Corporation, current or accumulated, shall inure to the benefit of any private individual except for any and all contracts that may be entered into with any individuals as provided and afforded by these Bylaws and appropriate resolutions of the Corporate Board.

ARTICLE IV-EDUCATIONAL PURPOSES

The Corporation was initially organized in 1998 exclusively for educational, charitable, literacy and scientific research. The Corporation will also own and operate, in its own name or through subsidiaries, charter schools in the United States pursuant to the laws of such states. The Corporation shall provide a learning environment that will

present academic, social, and personal skills children need to become life-long learners and productive members of society, and provide additional academic choices for parents. In this connection, the Corporation may organize to hold ownership of charter contracts and education facilities related thereto, or be a member of limited liability companies organized under the laws of the State of Michigan in which limited liability companies the Corporation shall be the sole member and shall have complete control over the operation of each such limited liability company.

ARTICLE V-CORPORATE BOARD

Section 5.1 - Name, Numbers, Election and Term of Office:

- (a) The Corporate Board of the Corporation shall be known and described as the Corporate Board of the Corporation. Each director who serves on the Corporate Board shall be known and described as a Director.
- (b) The number of Directors of the Corporation shall be no less than five (5) and not more than seven (7), provided that such number may be changed by an amendment to these Bylaws, duly adopted by the Corporate Board, subject to any restriction of laws as to the minimum number of Directors. The Directors shall be composed of members who are selected by the Directors of the Corporate Board who are members of the academic and business community who shall facilitate the objectives of the Corporation.
- (c) The Directors shall hold office for a period of two (2) years, and until his or her successor is elected and qualified, or until his or her prior death, resignation or removal.

Section 5.2 - Qualifications:

- (a) Each member of the Corporate Board must be over the age of eighteen;
- (b) Each member must be able to pass a background check as requested by the Department of Education and any appropriate sponsoring board of the Corporation, which will include a valid fingerprint clearance card issued pursuant to Arizona Revised Statutes ("A.R.S.") § 41-1788, et seq., or such other laws of any state in which the Corporation is qualified to conduct business, showing that there exists no criminal record which could adversely affect the Corporation or its operation as a public school.
- (c) Each member of the Corporate Board must establish that each such Director possesses significant experience and qualifications to further the Corporate Board's commitment to the educational purposes of the Corporation as set forth herein including, without limitation, educational, managerial and fund-raising skills.

Section 5.3 – Powers and Duties:

The Corporate Board shall be responsible for the authorization, oversight and, when required, ratification of the acts of the Administration/School Directors and the performance of any and all other acts required to be performed by the Corporate Board by state or federal statute and the Charter Contract entered into by its sponsoring board pursuant to A.R.S. §15-181 et seq. or such other laws of any state in which the Corporation is qualified to conduct business.

Section 5.4 - Expressed Limitations on Power to Act:

The Corporate Board shall preserve the non profit status of the Corporation by the observance of prudent fiscal and monetary controls as set forth herein. The Corporation, by and through the Corporate Board, shall not:

- (a) Lend any part of its income or corpus without the receipt of adequate security and a reasonable rate of interest;
- (b) Pay any compensation in excess of a reasonable allowance for salaries or other compensation for personal services that are actually rendered;
- (c) Make any part of its services available on a preferential basis;
- (d) Make any substantial purchase of any property for more than adequate consideration in money or for other consideration for a value that can be established in terms of money's worth; and
- (e) Sell any substantial part of its property for less than an adequate consideration in money or for other consideration or value that can be established in terms of money's worth.

Section 5.5 - Manner of Acting - Corporate Board:

- (a) Except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, at all meetings of the Corporate Board, each member of the Board present in person, telephonically or via the internet shall have one vote.
- (b) Except as otherwise provided by statute, the Articles of Incorporation, or these Bylaws, the action of a majority of the Directors present at any meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Corporate Board. Any act authorized, in writing, by all of the Directors entitled to vote thereon and filed with the minutes of the Corporation shall be the act of the Corporate Board with the same force and effect as if the same had been passed by a unanimous vote at a duly called meeting of the Corporate Board.

Section 5.6 - Director Deadlock - Corporate Board:

In the event of a deadlock, the Directors shall appoint a mutually agreed upon neutral third party to aid the Directors in facilitating the decision-making process.

In the event deadlock persists, the Directors shall refer to the Michigan Alternative Dispute Resolution Association and request the appointment of a mediator who shall facilitate discussions and encourage pursuing solutions. If mediation fails and deadlock persists, the Directors shall agree upon a neutral third-party arbitrator who shall have the authority to issue binding decisions on issues at deadlock.

Section 5.7 - Vacancies - Corporate Board:

Any vacancy in the Corporate Board occurring by reason of an increase in the number of Directors shall be filled by a majority vote of the votes cast at a regular or special meeting by the Directors, present in person, telephonically, or via the internet, that are entitled to vote in the election. Vacancies occurring by reason of the death, resignation, disqualification, removal, an inability to act, or otherwise of any Director shall be filled by a majority vote of the votes cast at a regular or special meeting by the Directors, present in person, telephonically, or via the internet that are entitled to vote in the election as a means to fill the unexpired portion of the term of any such vacancy. In an election where the number of Directors qualified to vote is less than two (2) in number, the unexpired portion of any term shall be filled by a vote of a majority of the remaining Directors, though less than any specified quorum, at any regular or special meeting of the Corporate Board called for that purpose.

Section 5.8 - Resignation - Corporate Board:

Any Director may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Corporate Board, the Chairman of the Corporate Board or the Secretary of the Corporate Board. Unless otherwise specified in such written notice, such resignation shall take effect upon receipt of such notice by the Corporate Board or such officer, and the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.

A Director shall be deemed to have resigned if that Director misses three consecutive properly-noticed meetings without advising at least one of the other Directors, either before the meeting or no later than 24 hours after the meeting, as to the reason for the Director's absence, or if the Director moves out-of-state without formally resigning. A Director who is deemed to have resigned shall be replaced as provided in these Bylaws.

Section 5.9 - Removal - Corporate Board:

Any Director may be removed with or without cause at any time by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the Directors at a special meeting convened for that purpose. In the event any Director shall be removed in accordance with this Section 5.9, any and all debts owing to such Director resulting from loans made to the Corporation or expenses of the Corporation which shall have been paid by such Director shall become immediately due and payable by the Corporation. Notwithstanding the

foregoing, the remaining Directors then serving on the Corporate Board may elect to provide an unsecured promissory note evidencing the amounts due and payable to such Director who shall have been removed in accordance with this Section 5.9

Section 5.10 - Salary - Corporate Board:

No salary shall be paid to Directors of the Corporation for their services, but by resolution of the Corporate Board, a fixed reasonable sum for expenses of attendance, if any, may be allowed for attendance at such regular or special meeting of the Board; provided, however, nothing herein contained shall be construed or interpreted to prevent any person serving as a Director of the Corporation from also serving as an officer or employee of the Corporation and receiving a salary or other compensation for that position.

Section 5.11 – Contracts – Corporate Board:

- (a) No contract or other transaction between the Corporation and any other corporation shall be impaired, affected, and/or invalidated nor shall any Director be liable in any way by reason of the fact that any one or more of the Directors of the Corporation may be interested in any such other corporation or may serve as a director or officer of any such other corporation or corporations or other relevant material facts that are disclosed in writing to the Corporate Board including, without limitation, the nature of such Director's involvement with such other corporation or corporations including, without limitation, such Director's ability to influence the action of such other corporation or corporations, and any tangible or intangible benefit or profit that may accrue to such Director as a result of any contract or transaction between the Corporation and any other corporation or corporations. In addition, the contract or transaction must be fair and reasonable to the Corporation when it is authorized, approved and ratified in accordance with the following paragraph.
- (b) Any Director, personally and individually, may be a party to or may be interested in any contract or transaction of this Corporation, and no Director shall be liable in any way by reason of such interest, provided that the fact of an interest be disclosed or made known to the Corporate Board in writing, provided that the Corporate Board shall authorize, approve or ratify such contract or transaction by the vote (not counting the vote of any such Director) of a majority of a quorum, and notwithstanding the presence of any such Director at the meeting at which such action is taken. Such director or Directors may be counted in determining the presence of a quorum at the meeting, but may not participate in the discussion nor vote on the contract or transaction at issue. This Section shall not be construed to impair or invalidate or any way affect any contract or other transaction which would otherwise be valid under the law (common, statutory or otherwise) applicable thereto. In addition to the conflict of interest provisions set forth in this section, when the Corporate Board is meeting with regard to a charter school authorized by Article IV above, the Directors are also subject to the

provisions of A.R.S. § 38-501 et seq. or such other laws of any state in which the Corporation is qualified to conduct business.

Section 5.12 - Committees - Corporate Board:

The Corporate Board, by resolution adopted by a majority of the entire Board present at a duly-authorized meeting, may from time to time designate from among its members an executive committee, and may also designate from among its members and non-members such other committees as the Corporate Board may deem desirable, each consisting of three (3) or more Board members, with such powers and authority (to the extent permitted by law) as may be provided in such a resolution. Each such committee shall serve at the pleasure of the Board and, if required, shall comply with applicable Arizona Open Meeting Laws, A.R.S. § 38-431 et seq. or such other laws of any state in which the Corporation is qualified to conduct business.

ARTICLE VI - MEETINGS OF THE CORPORATE BOARD

Section 6.1 – Annual Meetings:

The annual meeting of the Corporate Board of the Corporation shall be held at a time designated by the Directors, for the purpose of electing the Directors, voting on a budget and transacting such other business as may properly come before the meeting.

Section 6.2 - Special Meetings:

Special meetings of the Directors may be called at any time by the Corporate Board, by the Chairman of the Board, or the Secretary at the written request of two (2) members of the Corporate Board, or as otherwise required under the provisions of appropriate laws.

Section 6.3 – Place of Meetings:

All meetings of the Corporate Board shall be held at the principal office of the Corporation, or at such other places as shall be designated in the notice or waiver of notice of such a meeting or meetings.

Section 6.4 – Notice of Meetings:

Notice of all meetings, including annual, monthly and special meetings shall specifically set forth an agenda for such meeting.

(a) Except as otherwise provided by statute, written notice of each meeting of the Corporate Board, whether annual or special, shall state the time and location of such meeting, shall be served either personally, by mail, by e-mail or facsimile

the receipt of which shall occur not less than twenty four (24) hours prior to such meeting. Notice of a special meeting shall also state the purpose or purposes for which such meeting is called and shall indicate that it is being issued by or at the direction of the Director or officers calling such meeting. If mailed, e-mailed or faxed, such notice shall be directed to each Director at his address as it appears on the records of the Corporate Board of the Corporation, unless the Director shall have previously filed with the Secretary of the Corporation a written request that any notices sent by the Corporate Board that are intended for any such Director also be mailed to some other address in which case any such notice shall be mailed to the address designated in such request. When the Corporate Board is meeting with regard to a charter school authorized by Article IV, above, the Board is also subject to the provisions of Michigan's Open Meeting Law, including the notice provisions set forth therein.

- (b) Notices sent by mail shall be deemed to have been received upon the date that is two days following the date that the letter is mailed. Notices that are sent by e-mail or by facsimile shall be deemed to be received on the date that the notice was e-mailed or the date that the facsimile issues.
- (c) A Director who attends any meeting of the Corporate Board shall be deemed to have waived any lack of notice of that meeting, unless the Director registers protest at the beginning of the meeting. Notice of any adjourned meeting shall not be required.
- (d) Meetings may be conducted telephonically or via the internet, so long as all required parties are informed of any other participants' non-physical attendance, and provision is made for the attendance of the public in accordance with Michigan's Open Meeting Law.

Section 6.5 – Chairperson of the Meetings:

At all meetings of the Corporate Board, there shall be a Chairperson. The Corporate Board may elect one of the Directors to serve as Chairperson of all meetings which shall be held during the term of two years. A Vice Chairperson may also be elected by the Directors for a term of two years. In the event the Corporate Board shall not elect one Director to serve as Chairperson for a period of two years or in the event such elected Chairperson shall not be present at a meeting, the Vice Chairperson shall preside as a Chairperson for such meeting and any adjournments.

Section 6.6 - Quorum:

(a) Except as otherwise provided herein or by statute, at all meetings of the Corporate Board, the presence at the commencement of such meetings of a majority of the total number of the Directors entitled to vote shall constitute a quorum. The brief absence of any Director from a meeting after the meeting's commencement shall have no effect on the existence of a quorum, but a permanent withdrawal or absence of any Director necessary for a quorum will destroy the quorum and require the meeting to be adjourned.

(b) Despite the absence of a quorum at any annual meeting or special meeting of the Corporate Board, the Directors who are present may adjourn the meeting by a majority vote. At any adjourned meeting at which a quorum is present, any business may be transacted at the meeting as originally called.

Section 6.7 -Voting:

- (a) Except as otherwise provided by statute, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, any corporate action other than the election or removal of Directors or Officers and voting on amendments to the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws, shall be effective upon a majority vote at a properly-noticed meeting.
- (b) Except as provided by Section 11.3 and any other section of these Bylaws or the Articles of Incorporation, each Director is entitled to one vote which may be cast in person, by proxy, telephonically, or via e-mail.

Section 6.8 - Conduct of Meeting:

A duly adopted agenda for each meeting shall be prepared by the Secretary or other designated Director or officer. The meeting shall be conducted in accordance with the agenda. The Chairman of the meeting shall have the right to limit discussion on any particular item and shall have the right to provide time limits for any party wishing to speak on any appropriate point. Meetings shall be conducted in accordance with respect and harmony at all times and to maintain a positive yet responsive environment. When the Corporate Board is meeting with regard to a charter school authorized by Article IV, above, the Board is also subject to the provisions of Michigan's Open Meeting Law, including the notice provisions set forth therein.

ARTICLE VII – ADVISORY COUNCILS AND GOVERNING BOARDS

Section 7.1 - Advisory Councils:

For each charter school owned directly or by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Corporation, the Corporate Board may create an Advisory Council in a membership-number to be determined by the Corporate Board. The members of the Advisory Council shall consist of people from the education, business, and marketing communities. The Advisory Council will consult with and advise the Corporate Board on that charter school's business, operations, community relations and any other germane issues, and may assist in any additional fundraising efforts for that charter school. All opinions and recommendations of the Advisory Council shall be advisory to the Corporate Board. The Corporate Board shall not be obligated to act upon any such recommendation. None of the members of the Advisory Council shall have the right to vote at meetings of the

Corporate Board unless a particular Advisory Council member is also a Director of the Corporate Board, in which case, any votes cast by that Director shall be in the capacity as a Director, and not in the capacity of a member of the Advisory Council

Section 7.2 - Governing Boards:

For each charter school owned directly or by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Corporation, the Corporate Board may create a Governing Board in a membership-number to be determined by the Corporate Board. The members of the Governing Board may consist of the same members as the Governing Board and may include parents of students at the charter school, and persons from the education, business, and marketing communities in which such charter school is located. The Governing Board will consult with and advise the Corporate Board on important educational, student, extra-curricular, teaching, administration, and other matters and issues facing that charter school, and may assist in any additional fund-raising efforts for that charter school. All opinions and recommendations of the Governing Board shall be advisory to the Corporate Board. The Corporate Board shall not be obligated to act upon any such recommendation. Any and all members of a Governing Board shall have no rights to vote at the meetings of the Corporate Board unless a particular Governing Board member is also a Director of the Corporate Board, in which case, any votes cast by that Director shall be in the capacity as a Director, and not in the capacity of a member of the Governing Board.

ARTICLE VIII - OFFICERS

Section 8.1 Name, Numbers, Election and Term of Office:

- (a) The officers of the Corporation shall consist of the Chairperson, a Vice Chairperson, a Secretary, a Treasurer, and any such other officers as the Board of Directors may, from time to time, determine. Officers of the Corporation need not be Directors of the Corporation. Any two or more officers may be held by the same person except that the Chairperson cannot also occupy the office of Vice Chairperson and the Chairperson cannot also occupy the office of Secretary.
- (b) All of the officers of the Corporation shall be elected by the Corporate Board at the regular annual meeting of the Corporate Board or at any other meeting established for this purpose.
- (c) Each officer shall hold office until the annual meeting of the Corporate Board next succeeding his election and until his or her successor shall have been elected and qualified or until his or her death, resignation, or removal.

Section 8.2 - Resignation:

Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice of such resignation to the Corporate Board, the President, or the Secretary. Unless it is otherwise specified in such written notice, such resignation shall take effect upon receipt thereof by the Board or Directors or by such officer of the Corporation. The acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.

Section 8.3 - Removal:

Any officer may be removed with or without cause by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the votes cast by the Corporate Board at a special meeting of the Corporate Board called for that specific purpose. A successor shall be elected by a majority vote of the Corporate Board at any time. A temporary successor may be appointed by the Corporate Board if they so desire.

Section 8.4 - Vacancies:

A vacancy in any office by reason of death, resignation, the inability to act, or for any other cause whatsoever may at any time be filled for the unexpired portion of the term by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the votes cast by the Corporate Board at a special meeting of the Corporate Board called for that purpose.

Section 8.5 - Duties of Officers:

The Officers of the Corporation shall, unless otherwise provided by the Corporate Board, each have such powers and duties as generally pertain to their respective offices as well as such additional powers and duties as may be set forth in these Bylaws or may, from time to time, be specifically conferred or imposed by the Corporate Board.

Section 8.6 - Sureties and Bonds:

If the Corporate Board shall so require, any officer, employee, or agent of the Corporation shall execute to the Corporation a bond in such sum and with such surety or sureties as the Corporate Board may direct, bonding the faithful performance of such officer, employee, or agent's duties to the Corporation including, without limitation, responsibility for negligence and for accounting for all property, funds or securities of the Corporation which may have come into such officer, employee, or agent's possession. The requirements of this paragraph shall be in compliance with applicable laws.

ARTICLE IX - CORPORATE SEAL

The seal of the Corporation, if any, shall be in a form approved by the Corporate Board.

ARTICLE X - FISCAL YEAR

The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be fixed by the Corporate Board from time to time, subject to applicable law. The fiscal year shall end on June 30th of each year.

ARTICLE XI - AMENDMENTS

Section 11.1 - Power of Corporate Board:

The Corporate Board shall have the power to amend the Bylaws, except as provided herein, at any duly called meeting for the purpose. No amendment of the Corporate Board may adversely affect the purpose of the corporation, amend Article III dealing with the tax-exempt status of the Corporation under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, amend this Article XI, confer upon the Corporate Board benefits that would defeat or adversely affect the tax-exempt status of the Corporation under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, or amend Section 5.4 in any way to defeat or adversely affect the tax exempt status of the Corporation.

Section 11.2 – Limitations on the Corporate Board:

The Corporate Board shall have no power to change any provision of the Bylaws regarding the election or removal of Directors or the filling of vacancies without the unanimous consent of all the Corporate Board.

Section 11.3 - Voting:

Except as otherwise provided by statute, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, the Bylaws of the Corporation shall be subject to alteration or repeal, and new Bylaws may be approved, by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the votes cast at such a meeting to be held by the Directors, present in person or by proxy, that are so entitled to vote, provided that the notice or waiver of such notice of the meeting shall have summarized or set forth in full therein the proposed change. Entitlement to vote in any such meeting to adopt, alter, repeal or amend such Bylaws shall be limited to Directors that have served at least six months prior to any such meeting.

ARTICLE XII - INDEMNITY

(a) Any person made a party to any action, suit, or proceeding by reason of the fact that he, his testator, or intestate representative is or was a Director, officer, or employee of the Corporation, or of any corporation in which he served as such at the request of the Corporation, shall be indemnified by the Corporation against reasonable expenses, including such attorneys' fees actually and necessarily incurred by him in connection with the defense of such action, suit, or proceeding, or in connection with any appeal therein, except in relation to matters

as to which it shall be adjudged in such action, suit, or proceeding or in connection with any appeal therein that such officer, Director or employee is liable for negligence or misconduct in the performance of his duties.

(b) The foregoing right of indemnification shall not be deemed to be exclusive of any other rights to which any officer, Director or employee may be entitled apart from the provisions of this section.

(c) The amount of indemnity to which any officer, Director, or employee may be entitled shall be fixed by the Corporate Board, except that when there is not a disinterested majority of the Corporate Board available, the amount shall be fixed by arbitration pursuant to the then existing rules of the American Arbitration Association.

ARTICLE XIII - TAX-EXEMPT CORPORATE STATUS

Neither the Corporation, nor any of its Directors, officers, or employee shall carry on propaganda or otherwise attempt to influence legislation nor shall any of its funds be used to support or oppose any political issue or candidate or do any other acts which could endanger its qualification as a non-profit corporation in the State of Michigan or its tax exempt status as a 501(c)(3) corporation under the Internal Revenue Code, nor shall the Corporation, or any of its Directors, officers or employees engage in any conduct that would violate A.R.S. § 15-511 or such other laws of any state in which the Corporation is qualified to conduct business.

I, Theodore C. Frederick, as President and CEO of the American Charter Schools Foundation, hereby certify that the foregoing constitute the Bylaws of The Corporation as adopted and in full force and effect on the 14 day of September, 2011.

Theodore C. Frederick, President & CEO

MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT

This Management Agreement (the "Agreement") is made and entered into as of the 20th day of September, 2017, by and between American Charter Schools Foundation, an Arizona non-profit corporation ("American Charter Schools Foundation") and Leona Arizona Management, LLC, an Arizona limited liability ("Leona Arizona Management").

RECITALS

- A. American Charter Schools Foundation will be applying for the issuance of a replication charter (the "Charter") by the Arizona State Board for Charter Schools (the "Authorizer") to operate a non-profit charter school (the "Charter School") pursuant to the Charter in accordance with Sections 15-101 *et seq.* of the Arizona Revised Statutes (the "Code") at Maricopa, Arizona under the name of Silver Horizon High School.
- B. American Charter Schools Foundation and Leona Arizona Management desire to create an enduring educational partnership, whereby American Charter Schools Foundation School and Leona Arizona Management will work together to develop an environment of educational excellence and innovation at the Charter School, based upon Leona Arizona Management's school design and capacity to implement and manage a comprehensive educational program ("Educational Program").
- C. American Charter Schools Foundation has approved Leona Arizona Management's Educational Program, and agrees that it is in the best interest of American Charter Schools Foundation and the Charter School to enter into this Agreement with Leona Arizona Management.

THEREFORE, the parties mutually agree as follows:

- 1. <u>Start-Up Phase and Assistive Services</u>. American Charter Schools Foundation and Leona Arizona Management shall mutually agree upon all reasonable and necessary Start-Up Phase and Assistive Services that may be required or are advisable to enable American Charter Schools Foundation to successfully apply for and obtain the Charter from the Authorizer. The term "Start-Up Phase and Assistive Services" as agreed upon by the parties shall include but not be limited to Leona Arizona Management providing services regarding (collectively the "Start-Up Phase and Assistive Services"):
- 1.1 The submission and defense, in concert with American Charter Schools Foundation, the charter replication application before the Authorizer.
- 1.2 Assisting American Charter Schools Foundation in obtaining any needed facilities and working capital financing.
- 1.3 Coordination and management of American Charter Schools Foundation's identification, acquisition, development and leasing of facilities for the Charter School.

- 1.4 Evaluation of the qualifications and the submission (if qualified) of an Arizona charter school start up grant on behalf of American Charter Schools Foundation
- 1.5 Selection, hiring and working capital funding of a School Leader (as defined in Section 15.3 for the Charter School.
- 1.6 Other developmental pre-operational functions necessary to successfully open the Charter School in School Year (as defined in Section 10.1) 2018-2019.
- 2. <u>Provision of Start-Up and Assistive Services</u>. During the Start-Up Year (as defined in Section 10), Leona Arizona Management shall provide the Start-Up and Assistive Services in accordance with the mutually agreed upon plan developed by American Charter Schools Foundation and Leona Arizona Management and the requirements and standards established by the Authorizer and integrated into the Charter.
- 3. <u>Educational Services</u>. For the Term of this Agreement, Leona Arizona Management will provide to the Charter School the following educational services (the "Educational Services"):
- 3.1 <u>Curriculum</u>. The development and implementation of the curriculum used at the Charter School.
- 3.2 <u>Instruction</u>. Oversight and coordination of the services to be provided by instructional personnel, including the School Leader(s), its teachers and support staff, all in accordance with this Agreement.
- 3.3 <u>Instructional Tools</u>. The selection of instructional tools, equipment and supplies, including textbooks, computers, software and multi-media teaching tools.
- 3.4 <u>Extra-Curricular and Co-Curricular Programs</u>. The development and implementation of appropriate extra-curricular and co-curricular activities and programs.
- 3.5 <u>Additional Educational Services</u>. Any other services required by the Authorizer or the State of Arizona Department of Education and such other services as are necessary or expedient for the improvement of teaching and learning at the Charter School as agreed to from time to time between Leona Arizona Management and the Charter School ("Supplemental Programs").
- 4. <u>Administrative Services</u>. For the Term (as defined in Section 10), subject to the Charter and the approval of the Board of Trustees of the Charter School (the "Board"), Leona Arizona Management will provide to the Charter School the following administrative services (the "Administrative Services"):
- 4.1 <u>Personnel Management</u>. Management and professional development of all personnel providing Educational Services and Administrative Services in accordance with Section 15.
 - 4.2 Facility Operation and Maintenance. Coordination with entities with which

Leona Arizona Management contracts on behalf of the Charter School for the provision of operation and maintenance services for the Charter School's facility (the "Facility") to the extent consistent with any and all documents pertaining to the Facility, together with the management and assessment of the services provided under such contracts and/or the supervision of employees involved in providing such services.

- 4.3 <u>Technology and Professional Development</u>. Coordination with entities with which Leona Arizona Management contracts on behalf of the Charter School for the provision of technology and professional development services for the Charter School, together with the management and assessment of the services provided under such contracts and/or the supervision of employees involved in providing such services.
- 4.4 <u>Business Administration</u>. Administration of all business aspects of the Charter School;
- 4.5 <u>Transportation and Food Services</u>. Coordination with entities with which Leona Arizona Management contracts on behalf of the Charter School for the provision of transportation and food services for the students enrolled at the Charter School, together with the management and assessment of the services provided under such contracts and/or the supervision of employees involved providing such services.
- 4.6 <u>Public Relations</u>. Coordination and assistance with any and all advertising, media and public relations efforts, including community outreach programs. All public relations will be subject to the mutual approval of both parties, which approval may not be unreasonably withheld.

4.7 <u>Budgeting, Budgeting Process, Financial and Other Reporting.</u>

- 4.7.1 Beginning with respect to the 2018-2019 school year, the preparation of a proposed annual budget (the "Charter School Budget") for each school year, subject to the approval of the Board acting in its fiduciary capacity. The projected Charter School Budget will include, but not be limited to the financial details relating to the Educational Services and Administrative Services to be provided pursuant to this Agreement.
- 4.7.2 Leona Arizona Management shall deliver a draft of the Charter School Budget for each school year to the Board not less than forty-five (45) days prior to the date on which the Charter School Budget for any school year must be submitted to Authorizer and or any other State governmental agency. The Board shall deliver any comments or objections to the Charter School Budget prior to the expiration of the Budget Review Period. Within five (5) business days following the expiration of the Budget Review Period, the President or Executive Director of American Charter Schools Foundation and the Chief Financial Officer of Leona Arizona Management shall reconcile any comments or objections made by the Board during the Budget Review Period. Leona Arizona Management and American Charter Schools Foundation shall agree to a final Charter School Budget for each such year not later than two (2) business days prior to the date on which the Charter School Budget must be submitted to the

Authorizer and/or any other State governmental agency.

- 4.7.3 Working in cooperation with the Board, the preparation of modifications or amendments to the Charter School Budget which may be necessitated by changes in projections or circumstances or the occurrence of unexpected events, which impact projected revenue and/or expense items contained in the approved Charter School Budget. In conjunction with this commitment Leona Arizona Management and American Charter Schools Foundation hereby agree that:
 - 4.7.3.1 On the 40th day of instruction and the 100th day of instruction as required by the Authorizer or such other time as may be reasonably necessary or desirable in Leona Arizona Management's reasonable judgment, Leona Arizona Management shall provide the Board with an enrollment report stating the number of actual students enrolled at the Charter School and Leona Arizona Management's calculation of Average Daily Membership (as defined in the Code) in connection with the Charter School (an "Enrollment Report"). Enrollment Report indicates that enrollment is lower than that which was projected in the Charter School Budget and such lower enrollment number shall materially adversely impact the Charter School Budget for such School Year. Leona Arizona Management shall within ten (10) business days following such Enrollment Report (the "Enrollment Shortfall Reconciliation Period') provide a comprehensive plan that proposes immediate cuts in operating expenses to achieve a modified Charter School Budget that complies with the requirements of this Agreement and provides due consideration of the educational needs of the students who attend the Charter School (the "Modified Budget"). Prior to the expiration of the Enrollment Shortfall Reconciliation Period, Leona Arizona Management shall deliver the Modified Budget to the Board for approval.
 - 4.7.3.2 Leona Arizona Management shall propose a student recruitment plan to restore the enrollment level to the projected enrollment reported to the Authorizer and or any other governmental agency prior to the commencement of the next following School Year within thirty (30) days following the date of the Enrollment Report which reflected a reduction in enrollment from the numbers projected in the Charter School Budget.
- 4.7.4 The preparation of detailed statements of all revenues received, from whatever source, with respect to the Charter School, and detailed statements of all expenses, including an accounting of all expenditures for services rendered to, or on behalf of, the Charter School by Leona Arizona Management, whether incurred on-site or off-site.
- 4.7.5 The preparation of other financial statements as required by and in compliance with the Charter, the Code and other applicable laws and regulations, including such documentation as may be required by the independent certified public accountants retained by the Board to perform annual audits of the Charter School's financial statements. The cost for preparation of the financial statements and audits will

be responsibility of the Charter School and will be provided for in the Charter School Budget.

- 4.7.6 The preparation of such other reports on a periodic basis, relative to the finances and operation of the Charter School, as the same may be requested or required by the Arizona Department of Education, the Board or the Authorizer to ensure compliance with the terms of the Charter.
- 4.7.7 Assist American Charter Schools Foundation with the preparation and filing of any reports which may be requested or required by the Arizona Department of Education or the Authorizer.
- 4.7.8 Other information on a periodic basis reasonably necessary to enable the American Charter Schools Foundation to monitor Leona Arizona Management's performance under this and related agreements including the effectiveness and efficiency of its operations at the Charter School.

4.8 Maintenance of Financial and Student Records.

- 4.8.1 Leona Arizona Management will maintain accurate financial records pertaining to its operation of the Charter School, together with all Charter School financial records prepared by Leona Arizona Management and retain all such records for a period of five (5) years (or longer if required by the Code or other applicable laws and regulations) from the close of the School Year to which such books, accounts and records relate. All financial records retained by Leona Arizona Management pertaining to the Charter School will be available to American Charter Schools Foundation, the Authorizer or the Arizona Department of Education for inspection and copying within two weeks of a written request to the extent practicable.
- 4.8.2 Leona Arizona Management will maintain accurate student records pertaining to the students enrolled at the Charter School as is required and in the manner provided by the Charter, the Code and applicable laws and regulations and retain such records, together with all additional Charter School student records prepared by or in the possession of Leona Arizona Management, and retain such records permanently on behalf of American Charter Schools Foundation or until this Agreement or its successor (if any) is terminated, at which time such records will be transferred to American Charter Schools Foundation and become the sole responsibility of the Board. Leona Arizona Management and American Charter Schools Foundation will maintain the proper confidentiality of personnel, students and other records as required by law and the Charter.
- 4.8.3 American Charter Schools Foundation shall be entitled at any time upon reasonable written notice to Leona Arizona Management to audit the books and records of Leona Arizona Management pertaining to its operation of the Charter School pursuant to this Agreement (including, without limitation, the financial records relating thereto), provided that any such audit shall be at the sole expense of American Charter Schools

Foundation.

- 4.9 <u>Admissions</u>. Implementation of the Charter School's admission policy per Charter and Application.
- 4.10 <u>Student Hearings</u>. Administration and enforcement of student disciplinary and special education hearings in conformity with the requirements of the Code and other applicable laws and regulations (including, but not limited to, requirements involving due process and confidentiality) to the extent consistent with the Charter School's duties and obligations under the Code and other applicable laws and regulations.
- 4.11 <u>Academic Progress Reports</u>. Leona Arizona Management will provide to American Charter Schools Foundation on a periodic basis as necessary or appropriate for American Charter Schools Foundation to satisfy its obligations under the Charter, the Code and other applicable laws and regulations, a report detailing (i) the Charter School's students' academic performance, and (ii) Leona Arizona Management's performance of the Educational Services and Administrative Services.
- 4.12 <u>Rules and Procedures</u>. Leona Arizona Management will recommend rules, regulations and procedures applicable to the Charter School and its students and will enforce such rules, regulations and procedures adopted by American Charter Schools Foundation that are not in direct conflict with this Agreement, the Charter, the Code and other applicable laws and regulations.
- 4.13 Advances. Leona Arizona Management may, during the Term, elect to make advances of cash to American Charter Schools Foundation for the Charter School (an "Advance") for the purpose of meeting the short term working capital or cash flow needs of the Charter School to the extent consistent with the Charter School Budget. In addition there shall be a deemed Advance in the event of a Fee Deferral pursuant to Section 13.6.2. Each Advance shall bear interest at the then Prime Rate of interest announced by Wells Fargo Bank plus 2% per annum from the date of the Advance until date of repayment by American Charter Schools Foundation from the subsequent free cash flows of the Charter School or American Charter Schools Foundation other resources.
- 4.14 <u>Additional Administrative Services</u>. Any other services reasonably necessary or expedient for the effective administration of the Charter School as agreed to, in writing, from time to time by Leona Arizona Management and the Board.
- 5. Provision of Educational Services and Administrative Services. The Educational Services will be provided in accordance with the educational goals, curriculum, methods of pupil assessment, admissions policy, student recruitment policy, school calendar, school day schedule and age and grade range of pupils to be enrolled at the Charter School (the "Educational Program") as proposed by the Leona Arizona Management and adopted by the Board, all in compliance with the Charter and the Code. The Administrative Services will be provided in a manner consistent with the Educational Program, the Code and the Charter.

- 6. <u>Modification of Educational Services and Administrative Services</u>. Subject to this Agreement, the Charter, Authorizer oversight, the Code and other applicable laws and regulations, Leona Arizona Management may modify (i) the Educational Services, provided that any material modification of the Educational Services will be subject to the prior approval of the Board, and if required by the Charter, by the Authorizer and (ii) the methods, means and manner by which such Administrative Services are provided at any time, provided that American Charter Schools Foundation will have the right to approve all material changes.
- 7. <u>Budgeting for Educational Services and Administrative Services</u>. Leona Arizona Management will be responsible and accountable to the Board for the provision of all Educational Services and Administrative Services, provided, that such obligations, duties and responsibilities are expressly limited by the Charter School Budget established pursuant to Section 4, and Leona Arizona Management will not be required to expend funds on such services in excess of the amounts set forth in such Charter School Budget, except for Leona Arizona Management's commitment to provide a Fee Deferral as provided in Section 13.6.2.
- 8. <u>Place of Performance: Provision of Offices</u>. American Charter Schools Foundation will provide Leona Arizona Management with necessary and reasonable classroom and office space at the Facility to perform all Educational and Administrative services described in this Agreement. Leona Arizona Management will provide instructional, extra-curricular and co-curricular services at the Facility. Leona Arizona Management may provide other services elsewhere, unless prohibited by the Charter, the Code and other applicable laws and regulations.
- 9. <u>Authority</u>. By this Agreement, American Charter Schools Foundation provides Leona Arizona Management such authority and power as is reasonably necessary or proper for Leona Arizona Management to undertake its responsibilities, duties and obligations provided for in this Agreement, except in cases wherein such authority may not be delegated by the Code and other applicable laws and regulations.

10. <u>Term</u>.

- 10.1 <u>Term.</u> Subject to extension pursuant to Section 10.2, this Agreement will be effective on the date hereof and shall remain in effect through the last day of the fifth (5th) School Year thereafter (the "Term"). For purposes of this Agreement, the term "School Year" shall have the meaning as provided in the application for the Charter submitted to and approved by the Authorizer. The parties acknowledge that it is anticipated that School Year 2018-19 will be the start-up and developmental year for the Charter School ("Start-Up Year") and that School Year 2019-20 is planned to be the first year of operations of the Charter School ("Initial Operational School Year").
- 10.2 Extension of Term. The Term of this Agreement shall automatically extended for an additional five(5) School Years ("Automatic Extension(s)"), unless (i) written notice of intent to terminate or renegotiate is given by either party not less than 180 days prior to the expiration of the Term, as the same may have been extended by one or more Automatic Extensions or (ii) this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 16.

11. Further Assurance. American Charter Schools Foundation and Leona Arizona Management shall do and cause to be done all such acts, matters and things and shall execute and deliver all such documents and instruments as shall be required to enable the parties to perform their respective obligations under, and to give effect to the transactions contemplated by, this Agreement. Leona Arizona Management shall have no obligation to agree to any changes which (a) materially increase Leona Arizona Management's obligations or materially reduce its rights under this Agreement, (b) materially alter any terms of the Agreement, including without limitation the economic terms, (c) would jeopardize Leona Arizona Management's receipt of the Management Fee, (d) would prevent Leona Arizona Management from meeting American Charter Schools Foundation and Leona Arizona Management's educational goals.

12. Relationship of the Parties.

- 12.1 <u>Status of the Parties</u>. The relationship between American Charter Schools Foundation and Leona Arizona Management is based on the terms of this Agreement, and the terms of any other agreements between the parties. Further, each party is acting as an independent contractor and not as a partner, joint venturer, agent or employee of the other. Each party will be solely responsible for its own actions and those of its agents, employees and subcontractors, and neither party will be liable for any debts or expenses incurred by the other or the other's employees, agents and subcontractors.
- 12.2 No Related Parties or Common Control. Leona Arizona Management will not have any role or relationship with American Charter Schools Foundation that, in effect, substantially limits American Charter Schools Foundation's ability to exercise its rights, including termination rights, under this Agreement. American Charter Schools Foundation and Leona Arizona Management will not be members of the same control group, as defined in Section 1.150-1(e) of the Treasury Regulations under the 1986 Code, or related persons, as defined in Section 144(a)(3) of the 1986 Code.
- 12.3 Other Schools. The parties acknowledge that this arrangement is not exclusive and that Leona Arizona Management will have the right to render similar services to other persons or entities including other public or private schools or institutions, including other schools owned and operated by American Charter Schools Foundation ("Other Schools"). Leona Arizona Management will maintain separate accounts for reimbursable expenses incurred on behalf of the Charter School and Other Schools and only charge the Charter School for expenses incurred or consideration earned on behalf of the Charter School. All grants or donations received by the Charter School or by Leona Arizona Management for the specific benefit of the Charter School will be maintained in separate accounts and used solely for the Charter School. If Leona Arizona Management incurs authorized reimbursable expenses on behalf of the Charter School and Other Schools which are incapable of precise allocation between the Charter School and Other Schools, then Leona Arizona Management will allocate such expenses among all such Other Schools and the Charter School on a pro rata basis based upon the number of students enrolled at the Charter School and the Other Schools, or upon such other equitable basis as is mutually agreeable by the parties.

13. Consideration for Services.

- 13.1 <u>Start-Up Year</u>. During the Start-Up Year, American Charter Schools Foundation will not be required to pay Leona Arizona Management any fees for the Start-Up Phase and Assistive Services, other than to reimburse Leona Arizona Management for all commercially reasonable costs incurred and paid by Leona Arizona Management in providing the Start-Up Phase and Assistive Services.
- 13.2 <u>Management Fee for the Initial School Year</u>. During the Initial School Year, American Charter Schools Foundation will not be required to pay Leona Arizona Management any fees for the Educational Services and Administrative Services, other than to reimburse Leona Arizona Management for all commercially reasonable costs incurred and paid by Leona Arizona Management in providing the Educational Services and Administrative Services.
- 13.3 <u>Management Fee</u>. For the Term of this Agreement after the Start-Up Year and the Initial School Year (including the Term as extended pursuant to Section 10.2), American Charter Schools Foundation will pay to Leona Arizona Management an annual fee for each School Year payable in monthly installments. The annual fee schedule is as follows:

Start-Up Year	2018-2019	0% of revenue
Initial Year	2019-2020	0% of revenue
Year 2	2020-2021	6% of revenue
Year 3	2021-2022	8% of revenue
Year 4	2022-2023	10% of revenue

- 13.4 <u>Reasonable Compensation</u>. The Management Fee under this Agreement is reasonable compensation for services rendered. Leona Arizona Management's compensation for services under this Agreement will not be based, in whole or in part, on a share of net surplus or profits from the operation of the Charter School.
- 13.5 <u>Payment of Costs</u>. In addition to the Management Fee, American Charter Schools Foundation will reimburse Leona Arizona Management for all commercially reasonable costs incurred and paid by Leona Arizona Management in providing the Educational Services and Administrative Services to American Charter Schools Foundation for the Charter School.

13.6 Payments to Leona Arizona Management.

13.6.1 Leona Arizona Management will receive the monthly installment of its Management Fee, that are due after the Start-Up Year and the Initial School Year, in

advance on or about the fifteenth (15th) day of each month (but in no event later than the date that American Charter Schools Foundation receives payments from the State) beginning the month of July 2019.

- 13.6.2 Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, Leona Arizona Management agrees that, in fulfilling its obligation to provide the Education Services and Administrative Services under this Agreement, Leona Arizona Management will treat all monthly operational expenses of the Charter School, including but not limited to employee compensation, as a priority over the monthly installments of the Management Fee. In the event that the cash flows of the Charter School are insufficient to fully satisfy all of the monthly obligations of American Charter Schools Foundation to Leona Arizona Management under this Agreement, then any amount not timely paid (a "Fee Deferral") shall be deemed to be an Advance from Leona Arizona Management to American Charter Schools Foundation pursuant to Section 4.13.
- 14. Other Revenue Sources. American Charter Schools Foundation and Leona Arizona Management may, together or independently, solicit and receive grants and donations from public and private sources consistent with the mission and the Charter of the Charter School, in the name of either Leona Arizona Management, American Charter Schools Foundation or the Charter School; provided, however, that (i) any solicitation of such grants by Leona Arizona Management in the name of American Charter Schools Foundation and/or the Charter School that are in excess of One Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$100,000) shall be subject to the prior approval of the Board, (ii) all such funds received by Leona Arizona Management or American Charter Schools Foundation for the benefit of the Charter School from such other revenue sources shall be deemed to be Charter School funds, (iii) Leona Arizona Management shall not be required to administer any grants that are not specifically approved, in writing, by Leona Arizona Management, in advance, (iv) only to the extent specifically provided in a grant, Leona Arizona Management shall be entitled to receive, in addition to all any other amounts which are payable to Leona Arizona Management under this Agreement, a grant administration fee, and (v) both American Charter Schools Foundation and Leona Arizona Management shall be required to mutually approve, in writing, any grants proposed by a third party grant writer. Nothing in this Section 14 will be construed to prohibit Leona Arizona Management from soliciting funds or grants solely for its own general corporate purposes and using such funds or grants solely for such purposes, except that Leona Arizona Management shall not use American Charter Schools Foundation's and/or the Charter School's name in such solicitation without the consent of American Charter Schools Foundation.

15. Personnel and Training.

- 15.1 <u>Personnel Responsibility</u>. Subject to the limitations of this Agreement, the Charter, the Code and other applicable laws and regulations, Leona Arizona Management will have the sole responsibility and authority to determine staffing levels, and to select, evaluate, assign, discipline, supervise, manage, transfer and terminate personnel necessary to carry out the Educational Services, the Administrative Services, the Supplemental Programs (if any) and all other services provided under this Agreement.
- Code or the Charter, the School Leader, teachers and support staff selected by Leona Arizona Management for the Charter School pursuant to this Agreement will be employees of American Charter Schools Foundation or employees of any employee leasing company with which American Charter Schools Foundation has entered into employee leasing agreement ("Employee Leasing Company"). Leona Arizona Management will be responsible for conducting or causing to be conducted by the Employee Leasing Company all reference, employment checks, criminal background checks and unprofessional conduct checks on all employees and other personnel working or providing services at the Charter School to the extent required under the Code and other applicable laws and regulations. Upon request, Leona Arizona Management will provide or cause to be provided to American Charter Schools Foundation documentary evidence of such background checks.
- Management acknowledge and agree that the accountability of Leona Arizona Management to American Charter Schools Foundation and the Charter School is an essential foundation of this Agreement, and because the responsibility of the administrator of the Charter School (the "School Leader") is critical to the success of the Charter School, Leona Arizona Management will have the authority, consistent with the Code and other applicable laws and regulations, to select and supervise the School Leader and hold the School Leader accountable for the success of the Charter School. The employment contract with the School Leader, and the duties and compensation of the School Leader shall be determined by Leona Arizona Management. The School Leader and Leona Arizona Management, in turn, will have similar authority to select and hold accountable the teachers in the Charter School.
- 15.4 Teachers. Leona Arizona Management will provide the Charter School with such teachers as are required to provide the Educational Services and Administrative Services. Leona Arizona Management and the School Leader will determine the number and assignments of such teachers. Such teachers may work at the Charter School on a full or part time basis. Each teacher assigned to the Charter School will be qualified in his or her grade levels and subjects, hold a valid teaching certificate issued by the Arizona Department of Education under the Code, to the extent required under the Code and other applicable laws and regulations. Upon written request, Leona Arizona Management will provide American Charter Schools Foundation with documentary evidence of Leona Arizona Management's compliance with this Section 15.4.
- 15.5 <u>Support Staff</u>. Leona Arizona Management will provide the Charter School with such support staff as is required to provide the Educational Services, Administrative Services and

any associated Supplementary Programs. Such support staff may include, among others, teachers' aides, clerical staff and administrative assistants to the School Leader, bookkeepers and maintenance personnel. Such support staff may work at the Charter School on a full or part time basis.

15.6 <u>Training</u>. Leona Arizona Management will provide training (i) in the instructional methods and curriculum, which comprise the Educational Program, and (ii) with regard to support technology to the teachers and other instructional personnel on a regular and continuous basis, as stated in the Charter and consistent with Leona Arizona Management's past practices. Non-instructional personnel will receive such training as Leona Arizona Management determines to be reasonable and necessary under the circumstances.

16. <u>Termination of Agreement.</u>

- By Leona Arizona Management. Leona Arizona Management may terminate this Agreement prior to the end of the Term specified in Section 10 in the event that American Charter Schools Foundation and/or the Charter School fails to remedy a material breach of this Agreement within 60 days after written notice from Leona Arizona Management. A material breach includes, but is not limited to (i) American Charter Schools Foundation's failure to pay any fee or reimbursement as required by the terms of this Agreement, (ii) adoption by American Charter Schools Foundation of an Educational Program for the Charter School in substantial variance from the material recommendations of Leona Arizona Management, (iii) American Charter Schools Foundation's failure to approve a Charter School Budget, which is (a) fully compliant with the requirements of this Agreement and (b) substantially consistent with the recommendation of Leona Arizona Management, or (iv) an act or omission that causes Leona Arizona Management to be unable to perform its material obligations under this Agreement. Termination by Leona Arizona Management will not relieve American Charter Schools Foundation of any obligations for payments outstanding to Leona Arizona Management as of the date of termination or liability for financial damages suffered by Leona Arizona Management as a consequence of American Charter Schools Foundation's breach (or of Leona Arizona Management's termination as a result thereof) of this Agreement.
- 16.2 By American Charter Schools Foundation. American Charter Schools Foundation may terminate this Agreement prior to the end of the Term specified in Section 10 in the event that Leona Arizona Management fails to remedy a material breach of this Agreement within 60 days after written notice from American Charter Schools Foundation. A material breach by Leona Arizona Management includes, but is not limited to: (i) a material failure to reasonably account for its expenditures related to Charter School funds or for other expenses incurred with respect to the Charter School at Leona Arizona Management's direction, (ii) Leona Arizona Management's failure to substantially follow the material policies, procedures, rules, regulations or curriculum required by the Charter, this Agreement, the Code and applicable laws and regulations, (iii) failure to abide by and meet the educational goals set forth in the Charter such that the Charter will be terminated, (iv) the employment of teachers in violation of the Code or this Agreement, (v) any act or omission of gross negligence that causes the Charter School to materially breach the Charter or any of the Charter School's other material contractual

obligations in anyway, or (vi) filing of bankruptcy by Leona Arizona Management. Termination by the Charter School will not relieve American Charter Schools Foundation of any obligations for payments outstanding to Leona Arizona Management as of the date of the termination, nor will it relieve Leona Arizona Management for liability for financial damages suffered by the American Charter Schools Foundation as a consequence of Leona Arizona Management's breach (or of American Charter Schools Foundation's termination as a result thereof) of this Agreement

- 16.3 <u>Change in Law.</u> If any federal, State or local law or regulation, court or administrative decision or Attorney General's opinion has a materially adverse effect on the ability of either party to carry out its obligations under this Agreement, such party, upon written notice, may request renegotiation of this Agreement. Such renegotiation will be undertaken in good faith and may include the use of a third party arbitrator for alternative dispute resolution pursuant to Section 21. If the parties are unable to renegotiate the terms within 90 days after such notice and good faith negotiations, the party requesting the renegotiation may terminate this Agreement on 120 days' further written notice or at the end of a school year, whichever is earlier.
- 16.4 Real and Personal Property. Upon termination or expiration of this Agreement by either party for any reason, any real or personal property leased by Leona Arizona Management to American Charter Schools Foundation or the Charter School will remain the real and personal property and leases of Leona Arizona Management, and all personal property purchased by Leona Arizona Management with the funds provided to Leona Arizona Management by American Charter Schools Foundation will be the personal property of American Charter Schools Foundation.
- 16.5 Advances/Out-of-Pocket Expenses. Upon termination or expiration of this Agreement for any reason, American Charter Schools Foundation shall (i) reimburse Leona Arizona Management for all expenses owed pursuant to Section 13.5, (ii) repay all advances or loans from Leona Arizona Management, whether or not then due, and (iii) post a letter of credit or bond in favor of Leona Arizona Management guaranteeing (A) any future payments due under any equipment or facilities lease from, or guaranteed, cosigned, or collateralized by Leona Arizona Management or an affiliate thereof and (B) American Charter Schools Foundation's performance of any other obligations guaranteed, cosigned, or collateralized in whole or part by Leona Arizona Management or an affiliate thereof.
- 16.6 <u>Termination of Licenses</u>. Upon termination or expiration of this Agreement by either party for any reason, any licenses to use (express or implied) the Leona Arizona Management's curriculum and Education Program shall automatically terminate, and American Charter Schools Foundation shall immediately cease any use of thereof.
- 16.7 Return of Materials. Within five business days of any termination or expiration of the Management Agreement by either party for any reason, American Charter Schools Foundation shall (i) assemble in a safe place (a) all materials relating to Leona Arizona Management's curriculum and Education Program of any kind or character, whether in hard copy or electronic format or otherwise, and any copies thereof and (b) all operational, systems and other administrative manuals and material, and copies thereof, and (ii) the President or the Executive Director of American Charter Schools Foundation shall certify in writing to Leona

Arizona Management that American Charter Schools Foundation and the Charter School has ceased to use the Leona Arizona Management's curriculum and Education Program materials and all such administrative manuals and materials. At Leona Arizona Management's direction, American Charter Schools Foundation will promptly send at its expense all such materials to Leona Arizona Management or permit representatives of Leona Arizona Management to pick up all such materials at the School.

- 16.8 <u>Acknowledgement of Damages</u>. In the case of a wrongful termination of by American Charter Schools Foundation of this Agreement, Leona Arizona Management will suffer substantial damages since the Management Fees cover Leona Arizona Management's corporate overhead and profit element, and the wrongful termination may not result in a substantial reduction in Leona Arizona Management's overhead.
- 17. Proprietary Information and Ownership. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, third party curriculum or other educational materials purchased by Leona Arizona Management with funds Leona Arizona Management receives pursuant to this Agreement will be the property of American Charter Schools Foundation. Notwithstanding the foregoing, American Charter Schools Foundation acknowledges that Leona Arizona Management owns the intellectual property rights and interests in Leona Arizona Management's curriculum and Education Program being licensed and/or utilized at the Charter School during the Term of this Agreement. American Charter Schools Foundation acknowledges and agrees that it has no intellectual or property interest or claims in Leona Arizona Management's curriculum and Education Program and has no right to use Leona Arizona Management's curriculum and Education Program unless expressly agreed to in writing by Leona Arizona Management.

18. Indemnification.

- 18.1 Indemnification of Leona Arizona Management. American Charter Schools Foundation will indemnify, defend and save and hold Leona Arizona Management and its affiliates and all of their respective employees, officers, directors, subcontractors and agents harmless against any and all claims, demands, suits or other forms of liability (including reasonable attorneys fees and costs) that may arise out of, or by reason of, any noncompliance by American Charter Schools Foundation with any agreements, covenants, warranties or undertakings of American Charter Schools Foundation contained in or made pursuant to this Agreement, and any misrepresentations or breach of the representations and warranties of American Charter Schools Foundation will reimburse Leona Arizona Management for any and all legal expenses and costs associated with the defense of any such claim, demand or suit. The indemnification requirements of this Section 18.1 may be met by the purchase of insurance pursuant to Section 19.
- 18.2 <u>Indemnification of American Charter Schools Foundation</u>. Leona Arizona Management will indemnify, defend and save and hold American Charter Schools Foundation and all of its employees, officers, directors, subcontractors and agents harmless against any and all claims, demands, suits or other forms of liability (including reasonable attorneys fees and costs) that may arise out of, or by reason of, any noncompliance by Leona Arizona Management

with any agreements, covenants, warranties or undertakings of Leona Arizona Management contained in or made pursuant to this Agreement, and any misrepresentation or breach of the representations and warranties of the Leona Arizona Management contained in or made pursuant to this Agreement. In addition, Leona Arizona Management will reimburse American Charter Schools Foundation for any and all legal expenses and costs associated with the defense of any such claim, demand or suit. The indemnification requirements of this Section 18.2 may be met by the purchase of insurance pursuant to Section 19.

19. Insurance.

- 19.1 <u>Insurance Coverage</u>. American Charter Schools Foundation will maintain general liability insurance and umbrella insurance coverage in the amounts required (i) by the Charter or (ii) by sound business practices. Such policies shall name Leona Arizona Management and its affiliates and their respective directors, officers, employees, subcontractors, and agents as additional insureds under such policies. American Charter Schools Foundation will comply with any information requests from its insurer(s) and all reporting requirements applicable to such insurance.
- 19.2 <u>Property and Casualty Insurance</u>. Each party will maintain property and casualty insurance covering all real and personal property owned by that party and which are used or useful in the operations of the Charter School.
- 19.3 <u>Workers' Compensation Insurance</u>. Each party will maintain workers' compensation insurance as required by law, covering their respective employees, including the maintenance of such insurance with respect to the School Leader, teachers and support staff of the Charter School, the cost of which shall be provided for in the Charter School Budget.
- 19.4 <u>Coordination and Cooperation</u>. To the extent requested by American Charter Schools Foundation, Leona Arizona Management shall undertake to coordinate the acquisition and maintenance of the insurance requirements of American Charter Schools Foundation under this Agreement and the parties will cooperate with each other to assure the complete, efficient and economical provision of the required insurance coverage. In addition, each party will, upon request, present evidence to the other that it maintains the requisite insurance in compliance with the provisions of this Section 19. Each party will comply with any information or reporting requirements required by the other party's insurer(s), to the extent reasonably practicable.

20. Warranties and Representations.

- 20.1 <u>Representations and Warranties of Leona Arizona Management</u>. Leona Arizona Management hereby represents and warrants to American Charter Schools Foundation:
 - 20.1.1 Leona Arizona Management is a duly organized limited liability company in good standing and is authorized to conduct business in the State of Arizona.
 - 20.1.2 To the best of its knowledge, Leona Arizona Management has the authority under the Code and other applicable laws and regulations to execute, deliver,

perform this Agreement, and to incur the obligations provided for under this Agreement.

- 20.1.3 Leona Arizona Management's actions under this Agreement have been and will be duly and validly authorized, and it will adopt any and all further resolutions or expenditure approvals required for execution of this Agreement.
- 20.2 <u>Representations and Warranties of American Charter Schools Foundation.</u>
 American Charter Schools Foundation hereby represents and warrants to Leona Arizona Management:
 - 20.2.1 American Charter Schools Foundation is a duly organized non-profit corporation in good standing and is authorized to conduct business in the State of Michigan and is authorized to do business in the State of Arizona.
 - 20.2.2 American Charter Schools Foundation has applied for and received recognition as a tax exempt entity under Section 501(c)(3) of the 1986 Code.
 - 20.2.3 The Charter (i) authorizes American Charter Schools Foundation to operate the Charter School and receive revenues under the Code from the State and from federal, State and other resources; (ii) approves the Education Program and other activities contemplated by this Agreement; and (iii) vests American Charter Schools Foundation with all powers necessary and desirable for carrying out the Education Program and other activities contemplated in this Agreement.
 - 20.2.4 American Charter Schools Foundation has the authority under the Code and other applicable laws and regulations to contract with a private entity to perform the Educational Services, Administrative Services, Supplemental Programs and all other services under this Agreement and execute, deliver and perform this Agreement, and to incur the obligations provided for under this Agreement.
 - 20.2.5 American Charter Schools Foundation's actions and those of the Board have been duly and validly authorized.
 - 20.2.6 To the best of its knowledge, American Charter Schools Foundation is not in breach of the terms of the Charter and will use its best efforts to insure that it will not breach the Charter in the future.
 - 20.2.7 To the best of its knowledge, the Charter School is not in breach or default under any loan or financial obligations, including, but not limited to, salary obligations and related benefits, payroll taxes, and leases for real and personal property, to the extent that any such obligation is related to the Charter School's required performance under this Agreement.
 - 20.2.8 The Educational Program has been reviewed and approved by resolution by the Board.
 - 20.2.9 American Charter Schools Foundation and the Board will use its best

efforts to insure that the Educational Program complies with and will continue to comply with the Charter, the Code and other applicable laws and regulations.

- 20.2.10 American Charter Schools Foundation has no intellectual or property rights or claims in Leona Arizona Management's curriculum and Education Program and will make no such claims in the future.
- 20.3 <u>Mutual Warranties</u>. Each party to the Agreement warrants to the other that there are no pending actions, claims, suits or proceedings, to its knowledge, threatened or reasonably anticipated against or affecting it, which if adversely determined, would have a material adverse effect on its ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement.

21. <u>Alternative Dispute Resolution Procedures</u>.

- 21.1 <u>Dispute Resolution</u>. All claims, disputes, and other matters in controversy ("Disputes") between the parties hereto arising directly or indirectly out of or related to this Agreement, or the breach thereof, whether contractual or non-contractual, and whether during the Term or after the termination of this Agreement shall be resolved exclusively according to the procedures set forth in this Section 21.
- 21.2 <u>Mediation</u>. No party shall commence an arbitration proceeding pursuant to the provisions of Section 21.3 unless such party shall first give a written notice (a "Dispute Notice") to the other party hereto setting forth the nature of the Dispute. The parties shall attempt in good faith to resolve the Dispute by mediation under the Commercial Mediation Rules of the American Arbitration Association ("AAA") in effect on the date of the Dispute Notice. If the parties cannot agree on the selection of a mediator within 20 days after delivery of the Dispute Notice, the mediator will be selected by the AAA. If the Dispute has not been resolved by mediation within 60 days after deliver of the Dispute Notice then the Dispute shall be determined by arbitration in accordance with the provisions of Section 21.3.
- 21.3 Arbitration. Any Dispute that is not settled through mediation as provided in Section 21.2, shall be resolved by final and binding arbitration in Phoenix, Arizona, governed by the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §1 et seq, and administered by the AAA under its Commercial Arbitration Rules in effect on the date of the Dispute Notice, except that persons eligible to be selected as arbitrators shall be limited to lawyers with excellent academic and professional credentials (i) who are or have been a partner in a highly respected law firm or a law professor for at least 10 years specializing in either general commercial litigation or general corporate and commercial matters with experience in the field of joint ventures and limited liability company agreements and (ii) who have both training and experience as arbitrators. All such Disputes shall be conducted by a single arbitrator, unless the Dispute involves more than \$250,000 in the aggregate in which case the arbitration shall be conducted by a panel of three arbitrators. Each party shall be entitle to strike on a peremptory basis, for any reason or no reason, any or all of the names of potential arbitrators for the list submitted to the parties by the AAA as being qualified in accordance with the criteria set forth herein. In the event the parties cannot agree on a mutually acceptable single arbitrator from the one or more lists by the AAA, the AAA shall designate three persons who, in its opinion, meet the criteria set forth herein,

which designees may not include persons named on any list previously submitted by the AAA. Each party shall be entitled to strike one of such three designees on a peremptory basis, and shall indicate its order of preference with respect to the remaining designees, and the selection of the arbitrator(s) shall be made from such designee(s) which have not been so stricken by any party in accordance with their indicated order of mutual preference. The arbitrator(s) shall base their award on applicable law and judicial precedent and, unless the parties agree otherwise, shall include in such award the findings of fact and conclusions of law upon which the award is based. Judgment on the award rendered by the arbitrator(s) may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof.

- 21.4 <u>Costs and Attorneys' Fees</u>. If a party hereto fails to proceed with mediation or arbitration as provided herein or unsuccessfully seeks to stay such mediation or arbitration, or fails to comply with any arbitration award, or is unsuccessful in vacating or modifying the award pursuant to a petition or application for judicial review, the other party shall be entitled to be awarded costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees, paid or incurred by such other party in successfully compelling such arbitration or defending against the attempt to stay, vacate or modify such arbitration award and/or successfully defending or enforcing the award.
- 21.5 <u>Tolling of Statute of Limitations</u>. All applicable statutes of limitation and defenses based upon the passage of time shall be tolled while the procedures specified in this Section 21 are pending. The parties will take such action, if any, required to effectuate such tolling.

22. Miscellaneous.

- 22.1 <u>Sole Agreement</u>. This Agreement supersedes and replaces any and all prior agreements and understandings between American Charter Schools Foundation and Leona Arizona Management regarding the Charter School.
- 22.2 <u>Force Majeure</u>. Notwithstanding any other sections of this Agreement, neither party will be liable for any delay in performance or inability to perform due to acts of God or due to war, riot, terrorism, civil war, embargo, fire, flood, explosion, sabotage, accident, labor strike or other acts beyond its reasonable control.
- 22.3 Governing Law. The laws of the State of Arizona will govern this Agreement, its construction and the determination of any rights, duties and remedies of the parties arising out of or relating to this Agreement.
- 22.4 <u>Agreement in Entirety</u>. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement of the parties regarding the Charter School.
- 22.5 <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original, but both of which will constitute one and the same instrument.
- 22.6 Official Notices. All notices and other communications required by the terms of this Agreement will be in writing and sent to the parties hereto at the addresses set forth below

(and such addresses may be changed upon proper notice to such addresses). Notice may be given by: (i) certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, (ii) facsimile (with confirmation of transmission by sender's facsimile machine) or (iii) personal delivery. Notice will be deemed to have been given two days after mailing or on the date of personal delivery or on the date of transmission of a facsimile if on a business day during normal business hours (or, if not, the first business day thereafter). The addresses of the parties are:

To American Charter Schools To Leona Arizona Management Foundation:

American Charter Schools Foundation 7878 N. 16th Street, Suite 150 Phoenix, Arizona 85020 Attention: Theodore Frederick

Tel: 602-909-8091 Fax: 602-277-4900 Leona Arizona Management, L.L.C. 7878 N. 16th Street, Suite 150 Phoenix, Arizona 85014 Attention: William Coats

Tel: 602-953-2933 Fax: 602-953-0831

- Assignment. This Agreement will not be assigned by Leona Arizona Management without the prior consent in writing of American Charter Schools Foundation or by American Charter Schools Foundation without the prior consent in writing of Leona Arizona Management, provided that Leona Arizona Management may assign this Agreement to an affiliated entity or an entity that is a successor to all or a substantial portion of Leona Arizona Management's business and may delegate the performance of, but not responsibility for, any duties and obligations of Leona Arizona Management hereunder to any independent contractors, experts or professional advisors, subject to American Charter Schools Foundation approval, which approval can not be unreasonably withheld.
- 22.8 <u>Amendment</u>. This Agreement will not be altered, amended, modified or supplemented except in a written document approved by the Board and signed by authorized officers of both American Charter Schools Foundation and of Leona Arizona Management.
- 22.9 <u>Waiver</u>. No waiver of any provision of this Agreement will be deemed to be, nor will constitute a waiver of any other provision, nor will such waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly stated.
- 22.10 Severability. The invalidity of any of the covenants, phrases or clauses in this Agreement will not affect the remaining portions of this Agreement, and this Agreement will be construed as if such invalid covenant, phrase or clause had not been co-maintained in this Agreement. To the extent that any of the services to be provided by Leona Arizona Management are found to be an invalid delegation of authority by American Charter Schools Foundation, such services will be construed to be limited to the extent necessary to make the services valid and binding.
 - 22.11 Successors and Assigns. Except as limited by Section 22.7, this Agreement will

be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the parties and their respective successors and assigns.

- 22.12 No Third Party Rights. This Agreement is made for the sole benefit of American Charter Schools Foundation and Leona Arizona Management, and their affiliates, successors and assigns. Except as otherwise expressly provided, nothing in this Agreement will create or be deemed to create a relationship between the parties to this Agreement, or either or them, and any third person, including a relationship in the nature of a third party beneficiary or fiduciary.
- 22.13 <u>Survival of Termination</u>. All representations, warranties and indemnities made in this Agreement will survive termination of this Agreement.
- 22.14 <u>Binding Effect</u>; <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which together shall be deemed one and the same instrument.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Agreement as of the date and year first above written

By:

American Charter Schools Foundation

Leona Arizona Management, L.L.C.

By: Theodore Frederick

Its Executive Director

William Coats

Its Chief Executive Officer





STATE OF ARIZONA



Office of the CORPORATION COMMISSION

CERTIFICATE OF GOOD STANDING

To all to whom these presents shall come, greeting:

I, Jodi A. Jerich, Executive Director of the Arizona Corporation Commission, do hereby certify that

AMERICAN CHARTER SCHOOLS FOUNDATION

a foreign nonprofit corporation organized under the laws of Michigan did obtain authority to conduct affairs in the State of Arizona on the 25th day of June 2007.

I further certify that according to the records of the Arizona Corporation Commission, as of the date set forth hereunder, the said corporation has not had its authority revoked for failure to comply with the provisions of the Arizona Nonprofit Corporation Act; and that its most recent Annual Report, subject to the provisions of A.R.S. sections 10-3122, 10-3123, 10-3125, & 10-11622, has been delivered to the Arizona

This certificate relates only to the legal authority of the above named entity as of the date issued. This certificate is not to be construed as an endorsement, recommendation, or notice of approval of the entity's condition or business activities and practices.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the official seal of the Arizona Corporation Commission. Done at Phoenix, the Capital, this 13th day of December, 2016, A. D.



Jodi A. Jerich, Executive Director

ty: 1554911



